1992

James Turcsanski v. Salt Lake City Corporation, and Board of Review of the Utah State Industrial Commission : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this Appeal pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(a) and Section 35-1-86 Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues raised by this appeal are:

a. Did Industrial Commission err when it ruled that the claimant had failed to meet his burden of proof with regard to the issue of medical causation?

b. Did the Industrial Commission err when it affirmed the refusal of the Administrative Law Judge to refer the issue of medical causation to a medical panel?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Utah Admin. Procedures Act, Section 63-46b-16(4)(b)&(d) authorize Appellate relief when an agency has acted beyond the jurisdiction conferred by statute or erroneously interpreted or applied the law. The standard of review with respect to questions of law is that the court applies a correction of error standard. Morton International v. Utah State Tax Comm., 814 P.2d 581 (1991).

The appellate court need give no deference to the legal interpretation of Section 45 applied by the Industrial Commission. There had been no express or implied grant of power to construe said statute. Cross v. Board of Review of Industrial Comm., 824 P.2d 1202,1204 (Ut. App. 1992).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Workers Compensation Case involves a Petition for Review of an Industrial Commission Order affirming the Administrative Law Judge's denial of disputed benefits.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

a. Petitioner was employed by a self insured employer, Salt Lake City Corporation, on February 13, 1988. (R-00057)

b. Claimant fell twelve (12) feet from a ladder and landed on his back on February 13, 1988 while cleaning the ceiling of a pump house. (R-00057)

c. The Applicant was on a ladder 10 to 12 feet from the floor. The ladder slipped, and the Applicant fell straight down, but backwards. He landed on his back with the ladder beneath him. He put his hands down to break his fall, and he injured his arm on a protrusion. (R-00099)

d. After the fall, Claimant got off the ladder and felt pain in his right arm and leg. He then went to the Holy Cross Hospital Emergency Room where he was treated for a contusion on his right arm and returned to work to finish his shift. (R-00099)

e. On June 20, 1988 Applicant saw his regular treating physician Dr. King Udall complaining of pain in his back. Dr.

Udall diagnosed prostatitis and prescribed medication. (R-00057)

f. On November 20, 1989 Mr. Turcsanski again saw Dr. Udall complaining of neck pain among other things. Dr. Udall ordered a cervical x-ray. The x-ray report indicated "marked degenerative changes of the intervertebral disc" between C5 and C6 and between C6 and C7. (R-00057)

g. In December of 1991 Claimant contacted Dr. Jim Antinori who had originally treated him at the Holy Cross Emergency Room after his fall on February 13, 1988. Dr. Antinori opined that a back problem could have resulted from the fall and referred Mr. Turcsanski to Dr. Corey Anden, a physiatrist. Dr. Antinori is the only doctor actually familiar with the injuries suffered by Claimant on February 13, 1988, and made this referral only because the current back problem is fully consistent with those injuries. (R-00003)

h. Dr. Anden saw Applicant on December 9, 1991. Dr. Anden indicated that Mr. Turcsanski has "persistent left-sided low back pain," and "he generally has increased low back pain every winter since 1989." Dr. Anden recommended that the applicant have x-rays and possibly, a CT scan. (R-00058)

i. On December 23, 1991 Dr. Anden saw Mr. Turcsanski on a follow up visit and reported "post traumatic changes of the L5 vertebral body with disk space narrowing at L4-5 most likely sustained in the industrial fall in 1988; possible left L3-4 radiculopathy secondary to disk herniation; left gluteus medius muscular strain." (R-00004-5)

j. After receiving the Holy Cross Hospital emergency room records from the Assistant Salt Lake City attorney, Dr. Anden issued a letter changing her original opinion given in this case concluding that "In fact, it is unlikely that the lumbar vertebral compression fracture at L5 was sustained in the fall."

k. There is no evidence in the record that Claimant has ever suffered a lumbar vertebrae compression fracture at any other point in his life, or that he has ever had any other accidents as serious as the one of February 13, 1988. (R-00044 and R-00045)

l. There is no evidence in the record that the current condition of Claimant could only have resulted as an aftereffect of an actual lumbar vertebral compression fracture, even if it did result from his work related accident. (R-00044)

m. Dr. Stuart was hired by Defendants to do a medical file review, and he concluded that "it is just as probable" that Claimant's current back and neck problems resulted from his accident, as from any other cause. (R-00032)

n. The Applicant filed an Application for Hearing. (R-00002)

o. The Administrative Law Judge found that the injury to Claimant's back did not arise out of the fall on February 13, 1988. (R-00102)

p. The Industrial Commission affirmed the finding and ruling of the Administrative Law Judge. (R-00102)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Industrial Commission has a fundamental misconception of

how little additional evidence is needed to constitute a "preponderance" , once Defendants have conceded an equal probability of medical causation.

The Industrial Commission clearly erred if any part of its reason for not convening a medical panel was based on its perceived failure by Claimant to comply with U.C.A. 35-1-99.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE IN
THIS CASE SHOW AS A MATTER OF LAW
THAT MR. TURCSCANSKI SUFFERS FROM A
WORK RELATED BACK INJURY

Claimant acknowledges that he has the burden of proving medical causation between his back problem, and his work related accident of February 13, 1988. Further, he is required to prove this causation by a preponderance of the evidence. Large v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 758 P.2d 954, 956 (Utah App. 1988).

The dispute in this case, then, is over how the Industrial Commission understands and applies the legal standard of "preponderance of the evidence". Preponderance of the evidence clearly only means more probable than not, or, roughly, 51% of the "weight" of the evidence. The Industrial commission, on the other hand, has used a standard in the instant case which has required the Claimant to prove that it was much more likely than not that his present condition resulted from his accident.

For the purpose of this case, and consistent with the findings of its own doctor, (R-00043-44) the City has already conceded that it is equally probable that the claim of Mr. Turcsanski, is valid.

"[T]he medical evidence demonstrated that it was [only] equally probable that a non-industrial exertion caused the Applicant's condition." (R-00080) (And note the use there of the "proximate cause" language disapproved by this Court in Large.) Thus, it is clear that only very little more evidence of causation was required to be presented by claimant, before his burden of proof had been fully met. However, it is also clear from the decision of the Industrial Commission that it simply did not understand this very fundamental proposition.

Please note the following two facts: (1) Dr. Antinori, the only physician actually familiar with the original injuries of Claimant, thought it likely enough for the back problem to have resulted from the accident that he made a referral for further review (R-00003); and (2) at one time or another, Dr. Anden has stated both that "It is probable that the lumbar injury seen on the x-rays was sustained in the fall" (R-00004), and that "the lumbar disc space narrowing at the L4-5 level . . . may be related to trauma". Both of these facts were completely discounted by the Industrial Commission, in spite of the fact that this case was a draw without them. In reality, however, these facts cannot be made to disappear from the record, and they need be given no more than almost no weight at all before they tip an evenly balanced scale in the favor of Claimant.

The totality of the record in this case leaves no doubt that the accident of February 13, 1988 could have caused the condition that Claimant now suffers from. The denial of his claim by the

Industrial Commission, on the other hand, resulted only from the possibility that Claimant might be suffering solely from a degenerative condition. However, the fact is undisputed that, if Claimant does not have a degenerative condition, there is no other source of trauma that he has ever suffered that can account for his present problem. Further, trauma caused aggravation of pre existing conditions is at least partially compensable, and is a widely noted fact in back problem cases. (See e.g. Large, and Kennecott Corp. v. Indus. Com'm of Utah, 740 P.3d 305 (Utah App. 1987)). So, it should be held, as a matter of law, that any accident sufficient in itself to have caused a back injury, would, at the very least, have acted to aggravate a pre-existing condition, if any there was, which the Claimant might have suffered from. Further, if this claimant had no pre-existing degenerative condition, then the only other possible cause of his current condition is the trauma of February 13, 1988.

The Industrial commission has required this Claimant to show that it was highly likely that his back problem resulted from his accident. Even under this standard, Mr. Turcsanski should have prevailed, because a fall like his, at a minimum, would have had some lasting impact on a back that was already less than perfect. However, Claimant was only required to show that medical causation was more likely than not, the result of his work related accident and the concession of Defendant almost removed even this relatively low barrier. Accordingly, only very little additional evidence was required before Claimant could prevail, and the Industrial

Commission must be reversed for its faulty understanding of the law in this area.

POINT II

UNDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES, THE COMMISSION ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING THIS CASE TO GO FORWARD TO A MEDICAL PANEL FOR DECIDING THE ISSUE OF MEDICAL CAUSATION

It is not clear what role the interpretation of U.C.A. 35-1-99 by the Industrial Commission played in the outcome of this matter. However, there is no doubt that the law holds this to have been a case appropriate for the appointment of a U.C.A. 35-1-77 "Medical Panel".

Workers are all people who can have accidents on the job, but almost none of them are doctors. Thus, the "accident and injury" phrase of Section 35-1-99 can only mean "don't take any more than a year to tell your employer that you've had an accident that hurt you". The interpretation of this language advocated by Defendants would, of course, mean only those persons who can tell what is wrong with themselves can ever recover under a Workers Compensation Claim. Clearly, the Legislature never intended that compensation would be avoidable in all but such a narrow class of cases.

"The purpose of the notice requirement is two-fold: (1) to enable the employer to provide immediate medical diagnosis and treatment; and (2) to facilitate the earliest possible investigation of the facts surrounding the injury." Kennecott, at P.309 (emphasis added). The first purpose is clearly for the benefit of the employee. There would be no logic in concluding that employers are saved from paying for those injuries that their