1992

# James Turcsanski v. Salt Lake City Corporation, and Board of Review of the Utah State Industrial Commission : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Commission's decision for the following reasons:

1. Petitioner has not marshaled the evidence in support of the Commission's findings and shown that despite the supporting facts, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence. The evidence is more than substantial to support the Commission's decision that Petitioner did not meet his burden of showing medical causation.

---

<sup>67</sup>R. at 60-61.

<sup>68</sup>R. at 61. A copy of the ALJ's "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order" is attached as Appendix "G".

<sup>69</sup>R. at 98. A copy of the Commission's "Denial of Motion for Review" is attached as Appendix "H".

<sup>70</sup>R. at 112.

2. The Commission's discretionary decision not to refer the medical aspects of the case to a medical panel was within the bounds of reasonableness and rationality. According to Utah law, the Commission's decision not to refer the medical aspects of a case to a medical panel is "discretionary". Based on the facts before it, the Commission did not abuse its discretion when it determined that there were no significant issues for a medical panel.

3. Petitioner did not appeal the Commission's decision that the statute of limitations bars his claim pursuant to Section 35-1-99 of the Utah Code Annotated (1988). Accordingly, without more, the Commission's decision denying Petitioner workers' compensation benefits for his back and neck problems must be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE MEDICAL CAUSATION BETWEEN AN ACCIDENT ON FEBRUARY 13, 1988 AND HIS BACK AND NECK PROBLEMS.

##### A. Medical causation is a factual matter.

Petitioner argues that the Commission erred in finding that he failed to meet his burden of demonstrating medical causation between an accident on February 13, 1988 and his back and neck problems.<sup>71</sup>

This Court has consistently held that "medical causation is

---

<sup>71</sup>Petitioner's Brief at 1 and 5.

a factual matter."<sup>72</sup> Petitioner, however, attempts, without citing any authority, to transform medical causation from an issue of fact to one of law, which would necessitate a different standard of review.<sup>73</sup>

In Stewart v. Board of Review,<sup>74</sup> a worker claimed, as does the Petitioner in this case, that the Commission erred when it found insufficient credible evidence to support a conclusion that an accident caused her injuries.<sup>75</sup> This Court analyzed the issue raised by the worker in Stewart as a factual matter.<sup>76</sup> This Court, in Stewart, accepted the ALJ's findings as conclusive because the worker did not marshal the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that those findings were unsupported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, the proper standard of review regarding medical causation is whether the Commission's finding is supported by substantial evidence.

B. The Commission's finding regarding the absence of medical causation is supported by substantial evidence.

"Substantial evidence" is that which a reasonable person "might

---

<sup>72</sup>Stewart v. Board of Review, 831 P.2d 134 (Utah App. 1992); Merriam v. Board of Review, 812 P.2d 447 (Utah App. 1991).

<sup>73</sup>Petitioner's Brief at 5. There is nothing in the record to indicate that the Commission required a burden of proof other than a preponderance of the evidence.

<sup>74</sup>Stewart v. Board of Review, supra.

<sup>75</sup>Id.

<sup>76</sup>Id.

accept as adequate to support a conclusion."<sup>77</sup> There is more than adequate evidence to support the Commission's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of demonstrating medical causation between the accident on February 13, 1988 and his back and neck problems.

Immediately after the accident, Petitioner felt no pain in his back or neck.<sup>78</sup> Within hours after the accident, Petitioner was examined by Dr. James Antinori at the Emergency Room of the Holy Cross Hospital.<sup>79</sup> During the examination, Petitioner never complained to Dr. Antinori of back or neck pain.<sup>80</sup> Dr. Antinori noted in his records that the only injuries sustained by Petitioner were contusions to his right forearm.<sup>81</sup> After the examination by Dr. Antinori, Petitioner returned to work the same day and completed his shift.<sup>82</sup> Petitioner did not miss any time from work due to the accident.<sup>83</sup> On the date of the accident, Petitioner signed and filed a report with the City which stated that he ". . . landed on a pump injuring [his] knee and arm."<sup>84</sup>

---

<sup>77</sup>King v. Industrial Commission, supra, at 34.

<sup>78</sup>Fact ¶5.

<sup>79</sup>Fact ¶6.

<sup>80</sup>Fact ¶7.

<sup>81</sup>Fact ¶8.

<sup>82</sup>Fact ¶9.

<sup>83</sup>Fact ¶10.

<sup>84</sup>Fact ¶11.



Petitioner never mentioned back or neck problems in the report.<sup>85</sup> In 1988, the City paid all medical expenses relating to Petitioner's arm and knee.<sup>86</sup>

One month after the accident, Petitioner met with Dr. Stephen Barlow for a regular medical visit and never mentioned the accident of February 13, 1988. Four months after the accident, Petitioner sought further medical care from Dr. Barlow and mentioned some back discomfort.<sup>87</sup> Dr. Barlow examined the Petitioner and found that there was no back injury.<sup>88</sup>

From 1989 to December 1991, Petitioner visited his family physician, Dr. King Udall, for several problems including depression and some neck and back discomfort.<sup>89</sup> On examination of Petitioner's back, Dr. Udall noted that x-rays showed marked "degenerative changes of the intervertebral disc,"<sup>90</sup> or low back pain associated with "acute infection".<sup>91</sup> Significantly, Petitioner never mentioned the February 13, 1988 accident to Dr. King Udall in any of his visits prior to December 1991.<sup>92</sup>

In December 1991, approximately four years after the

---

<sup>85</sup>Fact ¶12.

<sup>86</sup>Fact ¶13.

<sup>87</sup>Fact ¶15.

<sup>88</sup>Fact ¶17.

<sup>89</sup>Fact ¶18.

<sup>90</sup>Fact ¶19.

<sup>91</sup>Fact ¶20.

<sup>92</sup>Fact ¶24.

accident, Petitioner contacted the City claiming that his back and neck problems should be covered by workers' compensation because they resulted from the accident on February 13, 1988.<sup>93</sup> This was the first time the City was notified of Petitioner's back and neck problems.<sup>94</sup> Coincidentally, at the time Petitioner notified the City, it was his understanding that, as a result of a change in his health insurance, he would not be covered for his back and neck problems because of a pre-existing condition provision.<sup>95</sup>

In December 1991, as a result of a referral by Dr. James Antinori, Dr. Cory Anden, a physiatrist, issued a letter, based on information given to her by the Petitioner, stating that Petitioner may have a small focal compression and mild narrowing of the L4-5 disc space as well as a mild anterior osteophyte formation at the L4 vertebral body.<sup>96</sup>

Initially, Dr. Anden indicated that, "it is probable that the lumbar injury seen on the x-ray was sustained in this fall."<sup>97</sup> However, on July 7, 1992, after reviewing the emergency room records prepared on the date of the accident and learning that Petitioner experienced no pain in his back contemporaneously with the accident or months later, Dr. Anden

---

<sup>93</sup>Fact ¶26.

<sup>94</sup>Fact ¶26.

<sup>95</sup>Fact ¶25.

<sup>96</sup>Fact ¶31.

<sup>97</sup>Fact ¶31.

corrected her remarks of December 1991 stating that Petitioner's back and neck problems could have been the result of any number of causes including the normal agency process.<sup>98</sup> She further indicated that she could not state with any medical certainty that the February 13, 1988 accident caused Petitioner's back and neck problems.<sup>99</sup> Dr. Anden concluded that it was unlikely the small focal compression was caused by the accident.<sup>100</sup>

Dr. Anden testified at the hearing before the ALJ and without hesitation, reaffirmed her opinion that it is unlikely the lumbar vertebral compression fracture was sustained in the fall on February 13, 1988.<sup>101</sup>

Dr. Roger Stuart, on examination of the medical files, reached the same conclusion as Dr. Anden. In Dr. Stuart's opinion, Petitioner's back and neck problems are typical of a gradual and, at times, progressive nature of degenerative spinal changes related to age, genetic predisposition and activities. He concluded that "there is no evidence to support the assertion that the fall played a pivotal or major role in developing the diffuse degenerative changes . . . or in [Petitioner's] current back pain problems."<sup>102</sup>

---

<sup>98</sup>Fact ¶32.

<sup>99</sup>Id.

<sup>100</sup>Fact ¶33.

<sup>101</sup>Fact ¶35.

<sup>102</sup>Fact ¶34.

This Court, in Stokes v. Board of Review,<sup>103</sup> held that:

Medical evidence is insufficient to prove industrial causation of any injury if it is equally probable that a non-industrial accident caused the condition.<sup>104</sup>

Accordingly, the ALJ, as affirmed by the Commission, properly determined that there was no medical causation according to Stokes v. Board of Review,<sup>105</sup> because: (a) Petitioner experienced no pain to his back or neck contemporaneous with the accident or months thereafter, (b) a medical examination 6 months after the accident showed no back injury, (c) he never mentioned the accident to any medical care provider in four years, even though he made several visits, until he believed that his health insurance would not cover his back and neck problems; (d) the opinions of Dr. Anden and Dr. Stewart agreed that it was unlikely the accident caused his back and neck problems; and (e) it is almost impossible to identify the cause of Petitioner's back and neck problems with the lapse of four years.

Petitioner presented no medical evidence to prove, beyond "mere possibility", that the accident on February 13, 1988 was the medical cause of his back problems. Findings of fact and imposition of liability cannot properly be made on "mere possibility".<sup>106</sup> Substantial evidence clearly supports the Commission's decision.

---

<sup>103</sup>Stokes v. Board of Review, 832 P.2d 56 (Utah App. 1992).

<sup>104</sup>Id. at 58.

<sup>105</sup>Stokes v. Board of Review, supra.

<sup>106</sup>Anderson v. Dominic Electric, 660 P.2d 241 (Utah 1983).

C. Petitioner failed to marshal the evidence in support of the findings and show that despite those facts, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence. Rule 11(e)(2) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides:

If appellant intends to urge on appeal that a finding or conclusion is unsupported by or is contrary to the evidence, the appellant shall include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such finding or conclusion.<sup>107</sup>

This Court, in King v. Industrial Commission,<sup>108</sup> stated that:

. . . our procedural rules specifically require a petitioner to provide a transcript of the proceedings if he is going to challenge factual findings under subsection 63-46b-16(4)(g) [of the UAPA]. A petitioner must also provide a transcript if he argues a legal conclusion is unsupported by the evidence in the case. Otherwise, we have no basis on which to evaluate the findings and conclusions.<sup>109</sup>

The Petitioner has not only failed to provide a transcript on appeal,<sup>110</sup> he resisted the City's efforts to compel Petitioner to order and submit a transcript.<sup>111</sup>

In his efforts to "marshal the evidence" to challenge the Commission's findings, Petitioner argues that Dr. Cory Anden, at one time, stated that it is probable the lumbar injury was

---

<sup>107</sup>Rule 11(e)(2) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

<sup>108</sup>King v. Industrial Commission, supra.

<sup>109</sup>Id. at 34.

<sup>110</sup>R. at 117-118.

<sup>111</sup>R. at 118-D, R. at 118-E.

sustained in the fall.<sup>112</sup> It is an undisputed fact, however, that Dr. Anden corrected her initial statement based upon a review of the Emergency Room records and learning that Petitioner did not feel pain in his back and neck at the time of the accident or months thereafter.<sup>113</sup> Dr. Anden ultimately concluded that it is unlikely that the lumbar vertebral compression fracture at L5 was sustained in the fall.

Dr. Anden later reaffirmed her opinion when she testified at the hearing before the ALJ under oath and subject to cross-examination by Petitioner's counsel. The Commission found Dr. Anden's testimony to be credible, including her explanation as to the correction of her prior statement. The Utah Supreme Court has held that as an appellate court, "it has no power to determine the weight of the evidence or credibility of the witnesses."<sup>114</sup> It is inherent within the prerogatives of the Commission, as fact finder, to judge the credibility of witnesses and draw any reasonable inferences.<sup>115</sup>

The Petitioner next argues that if he did not have a degenerative condition, there is no other trauma, except the fall, to account for his back problems. There is, however, nothing in the record to support Petitioner's statement that he

---

<sup>112</sup>Petitioner's Brief at 6.

<sup>113</sup>Fact ¶32.

<sup>114</sup>Bigfoot's Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 714 P.2d 1152 (Utah 1986).

<sup>115</sup>See, Gocke v. Wiesley, 420 P.2d 44 (Utah 1966).

did not have a degenerative condition. On the contrary, the record indicates that he has a degenerative condition.<sup>116</sup> Further, there is nothing in the record which supports his statement that no other trauma occurred. Unless Petitioner was absolutely dormant during the four year period between the accident and the time he notified the City, any number of exertions could have caused his problems.

Petitioner further argues, without citing the record, that the Commission required him to show that it was "highly likely" his back problem resulted from his accident.<sup>117</sup> There is, however, nothing in the record to show that the Commission applied a burden of proof other than a preponderance of the evidence. The Commission did state that the "mere possibility" of medical causation is insufficient which is consistent with this Court's decision in Stokes v. Board of Review.<sup>118</sup>

Petitioner apparently challenges the weight given to the evidence by the Commission. In an appellate review, however, this Court:

. . . will not ordinarily weigh the evidence nor substitute its judgment for that of the Commission on findings of fact or choices between conflicting testimony or inferences . . . .<sup>119</sup>

Finally, Petitioner states that ". . . the City has already

---

<sup>116</sup>Facts ¶¶19, 32 and 34.

<sup>117</sup>Petitioner's Brief at 7.

<sup>118</sup>Stokes v. Board of Review, supra.

<sup>119</sup>3 Larsen, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, §80.21(a) (1992).

conceded that it is equally probable that the claim of [Petitioner] . . . is valid."<sup>120</sup> As authority for the so-called concession, Petitioner takes, out of context, a statement made by the City in the argument part of a memorandum opposing Petitioner's Motion for Review and then cites the statement as a factual finding. The referenced statement in the City's memorandum paralleled the standard expressed by this Court in Stokes v. Board of Review.<sup>121</sup> The City was arguing that minimally, the medical evidence demonstrated that it was equally probable a non-industrial exertion caused petitioner's back and neck problems. It is an undisputed fact, however, that there is no medical evidence, beyond "mere possibility", to demonstrate medical causation. If Petitioner is citing the City's argument as a fact, then he should also accept, as a fact, the City's argument that there is no medical causation between the February 13, 1988 accident and his back and neck problems.

Accordingly, Petitioner fails to marshal the evidence and draw this Court's attention to any flaw in the evidence relied upon by the Commission in reaching its decision.

---

<sup>120</sup>Petitioner's Brief at 5 and 6.

<sup>121</sup>Stokes v. Board of Review, supra.



POINT II.

THE COMMISSION'S DISCRETIONARY DECISION NOT TO REFER THE MEDICAL ASPECTS OF THE CASE TO A MEDICAL PANEL WAS WITHIN THE BOUNDS OF REASONABLENESS AND RATIONALITY.

Section 35-1-77 of the Utah Code Annotated provides that " . . . the Commission may refer the medical aspects of the case to a medical panel appointed by the Commission."<sup>122</sup> The controlling statute provides for permissive referral.<sup>123</sup> The Commission, therefore, has an express grant of discretion not to refer the medical aspects of a case to a medical panel.

Where a grant of discretion to an agency exists, ". . . [this court] will not disturb the agency's interpretation or application of the law unless its determination exceeds the bounds of reasonableness and rationality."<sup>124</sup>

The Petitioner argues that the Commission erred by not referring the case to a medical panel based on its interpretation of Section 35-1-99 of the Utah Code Annotated - the one year statute of limitations. The Commission, however, did not rely on the statute of limitations in its decision not to refer the case to a medical panel. Rather, the Commission decided, within its discretion, not to refer the case to a medical panel because "there was no significant medical issue for the medical panel to

---

<sup>122</sup>§35-1-77 of the Utah Code Ann., emphasis added.

<sup>123</sup>Workers' Compensation Fund v. Industrial Commission, 761 P.2d 572 (Utah App. 1988).

<sup>124</sup>King v. Industrial Commission, supra at 35.

determine."<sup>125</sup>

The Commission's exercise of its discretion did not exceed the bounds of reasonableness and rationality.

There was no conflict in the medical evidence. Dr. Anden and Dr. Stuart concurred that it was unlikely the lumbar vertebral compression fracture was sustained in the fall on February 13, 1988. There is no evidence, beyond "mere possibility", of medical causation between the accident on February 13, 1988 and Petitioner's back and neck problems. Not only is there a lack of medical evidence demonstrating medical causation, the facts show that Petitioner experienced no pain in his back or neck at the time of the accident or for months thereafter;<sup>126</sup> the Emergency Room records show no injury to his back or neck;<sup>127</sup> he missed no work time as a result of the accident;<sup>128</sup> he never mentioned the accident to any of his medical care providers for four years;<sup>129</sup> four months after the accident, Dr. Barlow found no back injury; and Petitioner notified the City for the first time of his back and neck problems four years after the accident.

The Commission did not abuse its discretion by deciding not to refer the medical aspects of the case to a medical panel.

---

<sup>125</sup>Fact ¶36.

<sup>126</sup>Fact ¶5.

<sup>127</sup>Fact ¶7.

<sup>128</sup>Fact ¶9.

<sup>129</sup>Fact ¶¶7, 16, 24.

POINT III.

THE COMMISSION'S DECISION THAT PETITIONER'S CLAIM WAS BARRED BY SECTION 35-1-99 OF THE UTAH CODE ANNOTATED. (1988) IS DISPOSITIVE OF THIS CASE.

The Commission determined that Petitioner's claim was barred by Section 35-1-99 of the Utah Code Annotated (1988) because he failed to notify the City of his alleged back and neck problems within one year from the date of the accident.<sup>130</sup> The Petitioner notified the City of his alleged back and neck problems approximately four years after the accident.<sup>131</sup>

The Petitioner only appealed ". . . that portion of the [Commission's] Order which held that [Petitioner] . . . failed to prove causation by a preponderance of the evidence."<sup>132</sup> The Commission's decision regarding the statute of limitations was not raised as an issue by Petitioner in his docketing statement or his initial appellate brief.<sup>133</sup>

Since Rule 24(c) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure limits the material contained in reply briefs to "answering any new matter set forth in opposing briefs", this Court will not address the decision of the Commission regarding the statute of limitations. Accordingly, the Commission's decision that Petitioner's claim was barred by the applicable statute of

---

<sup>130</sup>Fact ¶36. §35-1-99 of the Utah Code Ann. (1988).

<sup>131</sup>Fact ¶26.

<sup>132</sup>Fact ¶38.


<sup>133</sup>R. at 112A-Y, Petitioner's Brief at 1.

limitations is final and, without more, disposes of this case.<sup>134</sup>

CONCLUSION

Based on the reasons stated herein, the City respectfully requests this Court to affirm the Commission's decision denying Petitioner worker's compensation for his back and neck problems.